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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF MARYLAND

MARYLAND ELECTION INTEGRITY, *
LLC, et al.,

Plaintiffs,

No. 1:24-cv-00672-SAG

MARYLAND STATE BOARD OF
ELECTIONS,

Defendant.
* * * * * * * * * * * *
DEFENDANT’S MOTION TO DISMISS

Defendant Maryland State Board of Elections (the “State Board”), by undersigned
counsel and pursuant to Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 12(b)(1) and 12(b)(6) moves to
dismiss the complaint (ECF 1) for lack of subject matter jurisdiction and for failure to state
a claim upon which relief can be granted.

The grounds for the motion are fully stated in the accompanying memorandum and
incorporated by reference herein.

WHEREFORE, for the reasons stated, the State Board hereby requests that the
Court enter an order dismissing plaintiffs’ complaint (ECF 1) and any further relief as may
be appropriate.

Respectfully submitted,

ANTHONY G. BROWN
Attorney General of Maryland
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/s/ Daniel M. Kobrin

DANIEL M. KOBRIN

Federal Bar No. 30392
Assistant Attorney General
Office of the Attorney General
200 Saint Paul Place, 20th Floor
Baltimore, Maryland 21202
dkobrin@oag.state.md.us

(410) 576-6472

(410) 576-6955 (facsimile)

March 28, 2024 Attorneys for the Maryland State Board
of Elections
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I certify that, on this 28th day of March, 2024 the foregoing was served by CM/ECF

on all registered CMF users on the following:

C. Edward Hartman, 111
Hartman, Attorneys at Law
116 Defense Highway

Suite 300

Annapolis, Maryland 21401
ed@hartman.law

/s/ Daniel M. Kobrin

Daniel M. Kobrin



Case 1:24-cv-00672-SAG  Document 8-1 Filed 03/28/24 Page 1 of 20

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF MARYLAND

MARYLAND ELECTION INTEGRITY, *
LLC, et al.,

Plaintiffs,
No. 1:24-cv-00672-SAG

MARYLAND STATE BOARD OF
ELECTIONS,

Defendant.
% % % * % % % * % * % %
MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT OF DEFENDANT’S MOTION TO DISMISS
Defendant Maryland State Board of Elections (the “State Board”) by undersigned
counsel submits this memorandum in support of its motion to dismiss plaintiffs’
complaint (ECF 1) for lack of subject matter jurisdiction and for failure to state a claim

upon which relief may be granted.
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF MARYLAND

MARYLAND ELECTION INTEGRITY, *
LLC, et al.,

Plaintiffs,

No. 1:24-cv-00672-SAG

MARYLAND STATE BOARD OF
ELECTIONS,

Defendant.

* * * * * * * * * * * *

MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT OF DEFENDANT’S MOTION TO DISMISS

Plaintiffs are a Maryland limited liability company and Missouri nonprofit
corporation (ECF 1 9 1-2) (the “companies”) who seek, among other things, to prevent
Maryland from holding any local, state, or federal election in November 2024 (ECF 1 at
30-31 99 B-F). The companies accuse the Maryland State Board of Elections (the “State
Board”) of “flaunt[ing] the Constititonal requirement to only allow known citizens
eligible to vote, to vote” and “los[ing] control of [Maryland’s] voting system.” (ECF 1
177, 180.) They therefore request this Court grant declaratory and injunctive relief for
perceived violations of the Help America Vote Act (“HAVA”), 52 U.S.C. §§ 20901-
21145; the National Voter Registration Act (“NVRA”), 52. U.S.C. §§ 20501-20511;
provisions of state election law, Md. Code. Ann. (LexisNexis 2023), Elec. Law Art., §§
1-101-16-1004; and COMAR 33.01.01.01-33.22.03.02; and, provisions of state public
information access law, Md. Code Ann. (LexisNexis 2019), Gen. Prov. Art., §§ 4-101-4-

601.
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The companies’ complaint, however, fails to vest this Court with jurisdiction to
entertain their accusations; and, fails to factually allege a claim upon which relief could
be granted. The companies allege no “injury in fact” explaining how their allegations of
election maladministration affected their individual members “in a personal and
individual way.” Gill v. Whitford, 585 U.S. 48, 65 (2018) (quoting Lujan v. Defenders of
Wildlife, 504 U.S. 555, 560 & n. 1 (1992)). The federal statutes cited in the complaint do
not provide the companies with causes of action, leaving only state law claims before the
Court. See Lovern v. Edwards, 190 F.3d 648, 654 (4th Cir. 1999) (“The mere assertion of
a federal claim is not sufficient to obtain jurisdiction.”) And the companies plead

2

“conclusory factual allegations devoid of any reference to actual events.” Chambers v.

King Buick GMC, LLC, 43 F. Supp. 3d 575, 586 (D. Md 2014).
The complaint (ECF 1) should therefore be dismissed for lack of subject matter

jurisdiction and for failure to state a claim upon which relief could be granted.

STATEMENT OF FACTS
Pertinent Federal Election Laws
The Help America Vote Act “was enacted in 2002 to help improve the equipment
to cast votes, the way registration lists are maintained, and how polling operations are
conducted.” American Civil Rights Union v. Philadelphia City Commissioners, 872 F.3d
175, 180 (3d Cir. 2017). Pertinent to this suit, HAVA imposes requirements on “voting
systems used in an election for Federal office” including standards for audit capability,

accessibility, and error rates. 52. U.S.C. § 21081(a). HAVA also establishes the
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Election Assistance Commission, id at § 20921, which, among other duties, provides for
the “testing, certification, decertification, and recertification of voting system hardware
and software,” id at § 20971(a)(1). States are not required by the federal law to have
their voting systems tested or certified by the Commission. /d. at § 20971(a)(2).

HAVA accomplishes enforcement of its requirements by two methods. First, the
law authorizes the United States’ Attorney General to seek declaratory and injunctive
relief “as may be necessary to carry out” the voting system requirements codified at 52
U.S.C. § 21081. And second, the law requires states who receive HAVA funding to
“establish and maintain State-based administrative complaint procedures,” for the
adjudication and disposition of complaints relating to HAVA’s requirements. 52 U.S.C.
§ 21112(a)(1)&(2)(B). HAVA does not provide a private cause of action against election
officials who administer voting systems pursuant to HAVA’s requirements.

The National Voter Registration Act standardizes the means by which each state
administers its rolls of registered voters. It requires all states to provided minimal
methods by which a person may apply to register to vote. 52 U.S.C. § 20503(a). The law
also bars a state from purging eligible voters from its voter rolls, permitting the removal
of an individual from a voter registration list only by way of that person’s request, death,
disability due to conviction or incapacity, or change in residence. Id. at § 20507(a)(4).
Finally, the NVRA requires states to maintain publicly-accessible records on their
“programs and activities conducted for the purpose of ensuring the accuracy and currency

of official lists of eligible voters.” Id. at § 20507(1)(1).
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Congress entrusted enforcement of the NVRA’s requirements to both the Attorney
General and private individuals. The law grants the Attorney General power to institute a
civil action for declaratory and injunctive relief “as is necessary to carry out [the
NVRA]” Id. at § 20510(a). Additionally, the NVRA grants a private cause of action to
“a person who is aggrieved” by an NVRA violation. Id. at § 20510(b)(1). The private
cause of action, though, is predicated on a plaintiff transmitting timely notice of a claim
prior to filing suit. Id. at § 20510(b)(2)&(3). Failure to provide the required notice is
grounds for dismissing a private plaintiff’s suit. Scott v. Schedler, 771 F.3d 831, 836 (5th
Cir. 2014).

Allegations in the Complaint

Maryland Election Integrity, LLC, pleads that it is a company ‘“comprised of
members who are registered voters in the state of Maryland.” (ECF 1 9 8.) The
complaint provides no other details about the company, its purpose, or its members.
According to the company’s public filings, it was formed on January 22, 2024. Md. Elec.
Integrity, LLC, Articles of Organization, filed Jan. 22, 2024, hereafter referred to as
“Exhibit A.” The company’s authorizing signatory, Charles S. Strauch, lists a “return
address” in Hilton Head Island, South Carolina. (Exhibit A.)

United Sovereign Americans, Inc., pleads that it is a “nonprofit corporation
incorporated in the state of Missouri.” (ECF 1 9 2.) The complaint provides no other
information on the Missouri corporation.

Together, the companies accuse the State Board of mismanaging State electoral

operations in six ways. First, the companies allege that the State’s voter registration list
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contained 79,392 “apparent registration violations” between August 2021 and July 2023.
(ECF 1 9 23.) According to the companies, the “apparent registration violations” breach
both the accuracy requirement of the NVRA and “specific Maryland laws pertaining to
voter registration.” (ECF 1 9 27 (citing 52 U.S.C. § 20501(b)(4); and Elec. Law §§ 3-
101, 3-102, 3-502, 3-503 & 3-504.)) The “violations™ also allegedly contravene HAVA’s
voting system requirements related to error rates. (ECF 1 9 39.) The companies seek a
judgment declaring the State Board in violation of these laws. (ECF 1 at 25, 4 B.)

Second, the companies claim that 62,075 “apparent voting system errors in
counting votes” affected the conduct of the 2020 general election in Maryland; and
27,623 of the same affected the conduct of the 2022 general election. (ECF 1 9 45-46.)
According to the complaint, these “apparent” errors exceed the “maximum allowable
error rate” imposed on voting systems by HAVA. (ECF 1 99 49-50 (referring to 52
U.S.C. § 21081(a)(5).) The companies seek judgment declaring as much. (ECF 1 at 25,
1C)

Third, the companies allege that the State Board “did not review the source code
for ES&S EVS 5.2.0.0.” (ECF 1 9 69.) Fourth, the State Board allegedly used voting
systems with “void” EAC certifications during “elections” prior to 2017. (ECF 1 99 90,
91, 95, 98.) Fifth, the State Board allegedly responded inadequately to requests made
under the Maryland Public Information Act for voting system audit logs. (ECF 1 9 101-
102, 125.) And sixth, the companies accuse the State Board of inadequately responding
to Public Information Act requests investigating a theory of Maryland’s voting systems

improperly counting “blank ballots.” (ECF 1 99 129-131, 152-153.) The companies
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plead these third, fourth, fifth, and sixth allegations as violations of state law (ECF 1
1 69, 94, 125, 151-153), requesting declaratory judgment on each, (ECF 1 at 25-26, 99
D, E,F, Q).

In addition to declaratory judgment, the companies request injunctive relief. The
injunctive relief, however, does not seek to have the State Board comply with the
applicable federal and State laws. Instead, the companies ask this Court to impose voter
registration and voting systems on the State that comply with the companies’ personal
preferences. (ECF 1 at 30-32.) And until that time, the companies ask this Court to
enjoin the administration or certification of any election in the State; and ask for the
appointment of a “Special Master” to “guide” the State Board in adopting an acceptable

voting system (ECF 1 at 32,  M.)

ARGUMENT

L. A FAILURE TO ESTABLISH SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION WARRANTS
DISMISSAL; LIKEWISE, RELIANCE ON CONCLUSORY FACTUAL
ALLEGATIONS WARRANTS DISMISSAL FOR FAILURE TO STATE A CLAIM.

A motion to dismiss for lack of subject matter jurisdiction under Federal Rule of
Civil Procedure 12(b)(1) is properly granted “where a claim fails to allege facts upon

29

which the court may base jurisdiction.” Pruitt v. Resurgent Capital Serv., 610 F. Supp.
3d 775, 779 (D. Md. 2022). The plaintiff bears the burden of establishing subject matter
jurisdiction. People for the Ethical Treatment of Animals, Inc. v. Tabak, 662 F. Supp.
3d581, 588 (D. Md. 2023). This Court looks to the complaint as “mere evidence on the

issue, and may consider evidence outside the pleadings without converting the
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proceeding to one for summary judgment.” Evans v. B.F. Perkins, Co., 166 F.3d 642,
647 (4th Cir. 1999). If the complaint “fails to allege facts upon which the court may base
jurisdiction,” the complaint must be dismissed. Davis v. Thompson, 367 F. Supp. 2d 792,
799 (D. Md. 2005).

Under Rule 12(b)(6), a motion to dismiss tests the sufficiency of the complaint
placed before the court. Presley v. City of Charlottesville, 464 F.3d 480, 483 (4th Cir.
2006). The complaint must contain “sufficient factual matter” to present a “plausible”
claim. Ashcroft v. Igbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009) (quotation omitted). Judging the
plausibility of a claim requires a court to draw on “its judicial experience and common
sense.” Id. at 679. And only “well-pleaded” allegations must be considered true.
Chambers v. King Buick GMC, LLC, 43 F.Supp.3d 575, 586 (D. Md. 2014). Legal
conclusions disguised as factual allegations may be rejected. Igbal, 556 U.S. at 678.
And conclusory factual allegations “devoid of any reference to actual events” may also
be discounted. Chambers, 43 F.Supp.3d at 586 (citing United Black Firefighters v. Hirst,
604 F.2d 844 (4th Cir. 1979)).

I1. THE COMPLAINT FAILS TO ESTABLISH SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION

BY FAILING TO ESTABLISH STANDING FOR EITHER PLAINTIFF AND BY
FAILING TO PLEAD A COGNIZABLE FEDERAL QUESTION.

A. Both Organizational Plaintiffs Fail to Establish Standing by
Neglecting to Show Injury to Their Members.

Article III of the United States Constitution limits the jurisdiction of federal courts
to “cases” and “controversies.” U.S. Const. Art. III, § 2. The maintenance of a case or

controversy relies, among other things, on standing—a plaintiff’s ability to plead a
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“personal stake in the outcome of the controversy.” Buscemi v. Bell, 964 F.3d 252, 258
(4th Cir. 2020) (quotation omitted). To establish standing, it is the plaintiff’s burden to
sufficiently plead “injury in fact, causation, and redressability.” Lance v. Coffman, 549
U.S. 437, 439 (2007). The failure to establish standing is a failure to establish subject
matter jurisdiction. Stone v. Trump, 400 F. Supp. 3d 317, 333 (D. Md. 2019).

99 ¢

An “injury in fact” is an injury that is “concrete,” “particularized,” and “actual or
imminent, not conjectural or hypothetical.” Bell, 964 F.3d at 258-59 (quoting Lujan, 504
U.S. at 560)). Plaintiffs must identify a harm, an “invasion of a legally protected
interest,” and adequately identify how that harm affects them “in a personal and
individual way.” Gill, 138 S. Ct. at 1929 (quoting Lujan, 504 U.S. at 560 n. 1)).
Asserting the violation of an interest “which is held in common by all members of the
public” fails as a matter of law to establish Article III standing. Schlesinger v. Reservist
Comm. to Stop the War, 418 U.S. 208, 220 (1974).

In election and voting rights challenges, a plaintiff’s standing is naturally entwined
with their “individual and personal” right to vote. Gill, 138 S. Ct. at 1929 (quoting
Reynolds v. Sims, 377 U.S. 533, 561 (1964)). “‘[V]oters who allege facts showing
disadvantage to themselves as individuals have standing to sue to remedy that
disadvantage.” Id. (quoting Baker, 369 U.S. at 206)). In contrast, voters who fail to
plead any personal disadvantage or impairment of the ability to vote cannot maintain
Article IIT standing. See, e.g., Bell, 964 F.3d at 260 (holding that North Carolina voter

challenging state write-in vote restrictions failed to establish standing by failing to allege

how restrictions impaired his personal ability to cast a write-in vote).
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The complaint names two companies as plaintiffs but fails to establish standing for
either one. In relation to United Sovereign Americans, Inc., the complaint acknowledges
that United Sovereign Americans could not “satisfy independently the demands of Article
III.” (ECF 19 11.) And it concedes that any alleged controversy only exists between the
State Board and Maryland Election Integrity, LLC. (ECF 1 9 156.)

In relation to Maryland Election Integrity, LLC, the complaint claims that the
company is “comprised of members who are registered voters in the state of Maryland.”
(ECF 1 9 8.) But the corporation’s Articles of Organization belies that assertion,
demonstrating that the ‘“authorizing” member of the company is a South Carolina
resident. (Exhibit A.) With the complaint providing no other information about the
company’s members, or if it even has other members, Maryland Election Integrity has
not carried its burden of proving that it is actually comprised of voters registered in
Maryland.

Moreover, “[a]n organizational plaintiff can satisfy the standing requirements in
two ways: either injury in its own right, or injury as a representative of its members.”
Voto Latino v. Hirsch, __ F.Supp.3d. , ,2024 WL 230931, *9 (M.D.N.C. 2024).
The complaint alleges nothing about the mission of Maryland Election Integrity or how it
was impeded by any of the State Board’s conduct. Seemingly, the company was
established for the purpose of filing this civil suit. (See Exhibit A (providing that the
company was formed, with plaintiff’s counsel as its resident agent, 44 days before the
filing of this suit).) The complaint therefore does not establish Maryland Election

Integrity’s standing to assert its own injury. See Lane v. Holder, 703 F.3d 668, 674-75
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(4th Cir. 2012) (““An organization may suffer an injury in fact when a defendant's actions
impede its efforts to carry out its mission.”)

As a representative of its members, Member Election Integrity can only maintain
standing in the this suit by demonstrating: “(a) its members would otherwise have
standing to sue in their own right; (b) the interests it seeks to protect are germane to the
organization’s purpose; and (c¢) neither the claim asserted nor the relief requested requires
the participation of individual members in the lawsuit.” Students for Fair Admissions,
Inc. v. Pres. & Fellows of Harvard, 600 U.S. 181, 199 (2023). The complaint provides
conclusory assertions that the members “have been and are currently harmed” (ECF 1
9 9) and that the voter registration system and voting system errors diluted “Plaintiff’s
votes” (ECF 1 9 166). But it provides no factual allegations about the company’s
members or the harm they’ve suffered, different from the harm any eligible voter would
suffer from the alleged systematic violation of election laws. See United States v. Hayes,
515 U.S. 737, 743 (1995) (“[W]e have repeatedly refused to recognize a generalized
grievance against allegedly illegal governmental conduct as sufficient for standing to
invoke the federal judicial power”); see also Gibson v. Frederick County, 2022 WL
17740406, slip op. at *5 (filed Dec. 16, 2022) (collecting cases in which recent suits
alleging widespread electoral violations were dismissed to due to lack of standing).

To assert its members’ standing, Maryland Election Integrity was obliged to plead
“facts showing disadvantage to [the members of Maryland Election Integrity] as
individuals.” Gill, 138 S. Ct. at 1929. But the complaint does not even allege whether the

members of the company voted in any Maryland election, much less how the State Board

10
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diluted members’ individual votes or defeated members’ supported causes. The
complaint is simply bereft of any mention of the company’s members and how an
“invasion of a legally protected interest,” affected them “in a personal and individual
way.” Gill, 138 S. Ct. at 1929 (quoting Lujan, 504 U.S. at 560 & n. 1)).

Maryland Election Integrity therefore cannot maintain standing to assert its own
injury and cannot maintain standing asserting the injury of its members in a
representative capacity.! The companies failed to establish their standing, depriving this
Court of subject matter jurisdiction.

B. The Complaint Presents No Federal Question Because It Lacks a
Cognizable Federal Claim.

By congressional grant, this Court possesses subject matter jurisdiction over “all
civil actions arising under the Constitution, laws, or treaties of the Unites States.” 28
US.C. § 1331. The companies invoke this federal question jurisdiction as the
jurisdictional basis for their complaint. (ECF 1 9 4.) But “[t]he mere assertion of a
federal claim is not sufficient to obtain jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1331.” PEM

Entities, LLC v. County of Franklin, 57 F.4th 178, 183 (4th Cir. 2023). The asserted

! This is also true for the allegations Maryland Election Integrity makes about the
State Board’s responses to Maryland Public Information Act requests. The complaint
specifies how requests under the state information access law “were made” (ECF 1 9 96)
or “were requested” (ECF 1 99 117, 147, 152), but never provides any further
information. It is not clear whether members of Maryland Election Integrity made the
requests, when they did so, and what responses they received. Such information is
integral to the question of subject matter jurisdiction, as the State law only provides a
cause of action to a person who is “denied inspection of a public record or is not provided
with a copy, printout, or photograph of a public record as requested,” Gen. Prov. § 4-
62(a)(1); and imposes a two-year statute of limitations to bring the action, Cts. & Jud.
Proc. § 5-110.

11
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claim must be one “for which federal law creates a cause of action.” Krist v. Erck, 616 F.
Supp. 3d 471, 474 (D. Md. 2022). The wholesale absence of a cognizable federal cause
of action leaves a district court without jurisdiction to entertain a suit under § 1331.
Lovern v. Edwards, 190 F.3d 648, 654-55 (4th Cir. 1999); see also Dinkins v. Region Ten
CSB, 289 F. Supp. 3d 756, 758-59 (W.D. Va. 2018) (finding federal question jurisdiction
lacking where plaintiff alleged violations of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure and the
Rules of Decision Act in addition to state law claims).

In this suit, the companies primarily claim that the State Board violated state laws
governing election operations and public information access. (See ECF 1 9 27, 69, 94,
100, 125, 153, 156.) The only federal statutes mentioned in the complaint are HAV A, the
NVRA, and 28 U.S.C. § 2201 (providing a declaratory judgment remedy). None of those
federal statutes, though, provide the companies with a private cause of action.

In the jurisdictional section of the complaint, the companies plead that this Court
“has authority to issue a declaratory judgment and to order injunctive and other relief”
under 28 U.S.C. § 2201. (ECF 19 5.) But “[t]he Declaratory Judgment Act, 28 U.S.C.
§ 2201, alone does not provide a court with jurisdiction.” California v. Texas, 593 U.S.
659, 672 (2021). The Declaratory Judgment Act provides a potential remedy for other
causes of action, “it does not create an independent cause of action.” Profiles, Inc. v.
Bank of America, 453 F. Supp. 3d 742, 752 n. 6 (D. Md. 2020). The companies therefore
cannot rely on a claim for federal declaratory judgment as a basis for federal question

jurisdiction.

12
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Elsewhere in the complaint, the companies plead that the State Board allegedly
violated various provisions of HAVA. (ECF 9 40, 54, 126, 156). The Help America
Vote Act, however, contains no private cause of action.? See e.g. Brunner v. Ohio
Republican Party, 555 U.S. 5, 6 (2008); Bellitto v. Snipes, 935 F.3d 1192, 1202 (11th Cir.
2019); American Civil Rights Union, 872 F.3d 175, 181 (3d Cir. 2017); Sandusky County
Democratic Party v. Blackwell, 387 F.3d 565, 572 (6th Cir. 2004); Georgia Voter
Alliance v. Fulton County, 499 F. Supp. 3d 1250, 1256 (N.D. Ga. 2020); Texas Voters
Alliance v. Dallas County, 495 F. Supp. 3d 441, 458-59 (E.D. Tex. 2020). HAVA
provides only two methods of enforcement: (1) civil suit for declaratory and/or injunctive
relief brought by the Attorney General, 52 U.S.C. § 21111; and (2) “State-based
administrative complaint procedures,” 52 U.S.C. § 21112(a)(1). Pleading a violation of

HAVA, then, does not present this Court with federal question jurisdiction.

2 Two courts have held that specific provisions within HAVA create private rights
enforceable under 42 U.S.C. § 1983. See Colon-Marrero v. Velez, 813 F.3d 1, 22 (Ist
Cir. 2016) (provision of HAVA requiring removal of ineligible individuals from voter
registration list created enforceable right under § 1983); Blackwell, 387 F.3d at 572-573
(HAVA provision requiring states to permit individuals to cast a provisional ballot under
certain circumstances created enforceable right under § 1983). But the companies have
not plead a cause of action under § 1983; and the HAV A violations they allege, having to
do with voting system requirements rather than individual rights to cast ballots, do not
arise from sections that can support an enforceable right under § 1983. See Colon-
Marrero, 814 F.3d at 15-22 (explaining and undertaking analysis of when statutory
language creates a private right of action enforceable by § 1983).

3 Pursuant to HAVA’s requirements, Maryland provides an administrative
complaint procedure for any alleged violations of HAVA’s voting system requirements.
See COMAR 33.01.05.01-.08 (providing an administrative process for the filing and
adjudication of complaints alleging a violation of pertinent HAVA provisions). The
companies allege that their members “exhausted every administrative remedy known to

13
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Finally, the companies specify in the complaint one instance where the State
Board allegedly violated the NVRA—52 U.S.C. § 20501(b)(4). (ECF 1 4 22.) The
NVRA contains a private cause of action, 52 U.S.C. § 20510(b)(1), but it is not available
to the companies in this suit, 52 U.S.C. § 20510(b)(2). The companies failed to transmit
the prerequisite notice mandated by the NVRA, rendering a private cause of action under
the NVRA unavailable to them. See e.g. Scott, 771 F.3d at 836 (“[Appellant’s] failure to
provide notice is fatal to his [NVRA] suit.”); Judicial Watch v. Pennsylvania, 524 F.
Supp. 3d 399, 408-09 (M.D. Pa. 2021) (“Notice is a precondition to filing a suit under the
NVRA.”)

Additionally, the NVRA only permits a private cause of action when a person is
aggrieved “by a violation of [the NVRA].” 52 U.S.C. § 20510. The companies allege
that 52 U.S.C. § 20501(b)(4) was violated, but that provision furnishes the congressional
findings and purposes for the NVRA. Section 20501(b)(4), read in context, provides:
“The purposes of this chapter are . . . to ensure that accurate and current voter registration
rolls are maintained.” It imposes no requirements on the states or on election officials. It
therefore has no requirements that can be violated, giving rise to a private cause of action.
The companies’ allegation that Maryland’s voter rolls are not “accurate and current as
required by the NVRA: 52 USC § 20501(b)(4)” (ECF 1 9 27) does not present this Court

with a federal question.

them in advance of the 2022 general election,” (ECF 1 4 52), but failed to explain how
they availed themselves of this administrative complaint procedure.

14
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None of the federal statutes cited by the companies, then, provide this Court with
a federal question. All that is cognizable before this Court are questions of state law.*
This Court should consequently dismiss the complaint for lack of subject matter
jurisdiction. Lovern, 190 F.3d at 654.

II1. THE FACTUAL ASSERTIONS IN THE COMPLAINT LACK SUPPORT IN
REALITY.

Under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 8(a)(2), a complaint must plausibly allege a
cause of action by containing “a short and plain statement” illustrating how the claimant
is entitled to relief. Although the statement need not present “detailed” allegations, it
must contain “sufficient factual matter.” Igbal, 556 U.S. at 678. Mere assertions “devoid
of further factual enhancement” will not suffice. Id. (quotation omitted). And conclusory
allegations about electoral irregularities, unsupported by plausible facts, also fail to
suffice. See Voters Organized for the Integrity of Elec. v. Baltimore City Elec. Bd., 214
F. Supp. 3d 445, 455-56 (D. Md. 2016)

For their claims relating to violations of federal law, the companies present this
Court with factual allegations “devoid of any reference to actual events.” Chambers, 43
F.Supp.3d at 586 (citing Hirst, 604 F.2d at 844). The lynchpin factual allegations

supporting the companies’ NVRA and HAVA accusations present this Court with drastic

* The Maryland Code provides a cause of action in State court for “any act or
omission relating to an election, whether or not the election has been held, on the grounds
that the act or omission: (1) is inconsistent with this article or other law applicable to the
elections process; and (2) may change or has changed the outcome of the election.” Elec.
Law § 12-202(a). This cause of action is available to every “registered voter” in the
State. Id.

15
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numbers of “apparent” errors in Maryland’s voter registration roll and in the results of
Maryland’s 2020 and 2022 elections. (ECF 1 99 23, 45-46.) But these numbers have no
basis.

The exhibits supporting the numbers are decontextualized tables that provide no
source or methodology for how the numbers were calculated, created, or recorded. (ECF
1.1 & 1.2.) And the report from which the companies seemingly sourced these tables,
transmitted by letter to the State Board a week before the filing of this suit, demonstrates
dubious math at best. See David Morsberger & Katherine Strauch Sullivan, Restoring
Faith in Maryland’s Elections (Feb. 27, 2024), hereafter referred to as “Exhibit B,”
(providing that the analysis of voter registration and voting system errors it undertook
“derived from a universe of 112,506 registered voters across all 24 jurisdictions who
voted” in the 2020 general election); see also Md. State Bd. Of Elec., 2020 Presidential
General Election: Total Voter Turnout, (Nov. 3, 2020) hereafter referred to as “Exhibit
C,” (providing that 3,066,956 registered voters participated in the 2020 general election).

Maryland’s voter registration rolls do not have 79,392 “apparent registration
violations”; nor do the results of Maryland’s elections in 2020 and 2022 have
approximately 90,000 “apparent voting system errors” between them. See Md. State Bd.
Of Elec., State of Maryland: Voter Registration List Maintenance, accessible at
https://elections.maryland.gov/voter registration/list maintenance.html (last accessed
Mar. 27, 2024); see also Md. State Bd. Of Elec., 2022 Gubernatorial Primary and
General FElections:  Post-Election Ballot Tabulation Audit, accessible at

https://elections.maryland.gov/voting_system/ballot audit plan.html (last accessed Mar.
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27, 2024). Nothing the companies have provided plausibly gives this Court, using its
“judicial experience and common sense,” a basis to draw an inference otherwise. Igbal,
556 U.S. at 679. The companies’ complaint fails to factually state a claim for a violation
of federal law upon which any relief can be granted.

And the companies’ state law claims fair no better. In alleging that the State
Board “did not review the source code for ES& S EVS 5.2.0.0.” (ECF 1 9 69), the
companies support their allegation with a document from 2014 (ECF 1.3). They fail,
however, to relate that alleged shortcoming to the elections they challenge—2020, 2022,
and, seemingly, 2024. The companies also hypothesize potential flaws with the State’s
voting equipment (ECF 1 99 91, 131-144); but acknowledge that the flaws were not
extant in the conduct of the 2020 and 2022 elections (ECF 9 89, 95, 130). Ultimately,
the companies ask for federal declaratory relief on the general application of State
election laws; but those State election laws do not grant the companies any individual,
enforceable rights against the State. And this Court could not impose a voting system on
the State commensurate with the companies’ demands. (ECF 1 at 30-32.) There
therefore exists no “definite and concrete [dispute] . . . affecting the legal relations of
parties with adverse interests” that is “amenable to specific, conclusive relief.” Dyer v.

Md. State Bd. Of Educ., 187 F. Supp. 3d 599, 609 (D. Md. 2016).
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CONCLUSION
The motion to dismiss should be granted and the companies’ complaint (ECF 1)
should be dismissed.
Respectfully submitted,

ANTHONY G. BROWN
Attorney General of Maryland

/s/ Daniel M. Kobrin

DANIEL M. KOBRIN

Federal Bar No. 30392
Assistant Attorney General
Office of the Attorney General
200 Saint Paul Place, 20th Floor
Baltimore, Maryland 21202
dkobrin@oag.state.md.us

(410) 576-6472

(410) 576-6955 (facsimile)

March 28, 2024 Attorneys for the Maryland State Board
of Elections

18



Case 1:24-cv-00672-SAG  Document 8-2  Filed 03/28/24 Page 1 of 2

EXHIBIT A



Filing Date and Time: 1/22/2024 3:08:36 PM Acknowledgment Number: 5000000009265355
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ARTICLES OF ORGANIZATION

The undersigned, with the intention of creating a Maryland Limited Liability Company files the following Articles of
Organization:

(1) The name of the Limited Liability Company is:
Maryland Election Integrity LLC (W24708133)

(2) The address of the Limited Liability Company in Maryland is:
116 Defense Highway, Suite 300, Annapolis, MD, 21401-7027

(3) In order to operate in Maryland, will the registering entity require a business or industry license that is issued
by the state or any other local agency?
Uncertain

(4) The Resident Agent of the Limited Liability Company in Maryland is:
Charles Edward Hartman ll|

whose address is:
116 Defense Highway, Suite 300, Annapolis, MD, 21401-7027

(5) Signature(s) of Authorized Person(s): (6) Signature(s) of Resident Agent(s):
Charles S Strauch Charles Edward Hartman i
(7) Filing party’s name and return address: [ hereby consent to my designation in this document.

Mr . Charles S Strauch, 49 N. Calibogue Cay, Hilton Head
Island SC 29928, SC, 29928

MARYLAND STATE DEPARTMENT OF ASSESSMENTS & TAXATION &

b |
Maryland
SDAT402 DEPARTMENT OF

ASSESSMENTS AND TAXATION

301 WEST PRESTON STREET, BALTIMORE, MARYLAND 21201-2395

Page1of 1
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EXHIBIT B



Restoring Faith in Maryland Elections

February 27, 2024
Cc: State Board of Elections Members; Local Board of Election Members
Mr. Demarinis and Maryland State Board of Elections Members,

Over the past three years, a team of dedicated Maryland citizens has organized various efforts to
verify the accuracy of our official Maryland State Voter Registration Database and official
Maryland reports. For example, we have focused on canvassing registration addresses to confirm
their validity and analyzing the official Maryland voter registration database in order to identify
potential inaccuracies. Our team includes trained data scientists, computer programmers,
statisticians, attorneys, and a group of dedicated registered voters from across all 24 Maryland
jurisdictions.

The following report is in service of restoring faith in our elections. In recent years, despite the
sincere and honest efforts of our local Board of Elections officials, faith and confidence in our
election process has drastically decreased. We firmly believe, in order to restore confidence in
our elections, Marylanders need to publicly see their concerns being addressed. This report gives
our Maryland state elections officials an opportunity to openly respond and work with us to
address these concerns.

Our intention in this report is to provide the State Board of Elections with critical data we have
collected to assist in maintaining an accurate voter registration database. It is our sincere hope
this report will serve as an opportunity for the State Board of Elections to review the inaccurate
registrations and unexplained anomalies we have identified as well as an opportunity to consider
the potential election system vulnerabilities which may have caused these issues.

The following report is a presentation of our findings.

Thank you in advance for your consideration of these findings and subsequent action. We look
forward to collaborating with you to address the vulnerabilities outlined in this report. With the
2024 Primary and General elections approaching rapidly, time is of the essence. We kindly
request a response within the next ten business days. Failure to do so may necessitate exploring
alternative avenues, potentially involving legal action.

David Morsberger
Anne Arundel County

Katherine Strauch Sullivan
Baltimore County
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Restoring Faith in Maryland Elections

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

GOAL: Restore faith in our elections by identifying vulnerabilities in our election system and
working together with the Board of Election officials taking a proactive approach to updating,
fixing, and eliminating processes that created the vulnerabilities we have identified in advance of
the 2024 Primary and General Election.

CANVASS: Physical canvassing of Maryland Registration addresses to verify accuracy of data

on record.
Sources: Official Maryland State Voter Registration Database
Methods: Trained volunteers familiar with voter registration processes and respectful
canvassing practices. (Training materials available upon request)

» CLAIMS:

e 58 inaccurate records across state represented 15% of the 383 records surveyed
and an alarming 32% of the 180 records contacted.
61 inaccurate records in Baltimore County represented 14% of the 418 records
successfully contacted.
5,625 Apparent Fraudulent Votes (Derived from a sample size of 383 registered
voters who were listed as having voted but did not vote - 95% confidence level
with a +/-5 margin for error).

DATA ANALYSIS: Meticulous analysis of our official Maryland State Voter Registration
Database to identify inaccuracies and vulnerabilities.
Sources: Official Maryland State Voter Registration Database (Voter Registration
Database snapshots were purchased 8/2021, 12/2021, 7/2022, 8/2022, 12/2022, 1/2023,
2/2023, 3/2023, 4/2023, 5/2023, 6/2023, and 7/2023).
Methods: Experienced Computer scientists, Data Analysts, and Computer Programmers
trained in SQL

» CLAIMS:
e 79,349 Current Apparent Registration Violations
e 62,075 Voting Violations in the 2020GE
e 27,623 Voting Violations in the 2022GE

RECOMMENDATIONS: Based on identified vulnerabilities and settled Federal and
Maryland State law, our team has compiled a list of recommendations which, when executed
Jjointly, will restore faith and confidence in our election system and optimize the security, safety,
and accuracy of our elections. The joint teams are optimal if comprised of State Board of
Election representatives and Select Qualified citizens.




MARYLAND CROSS STATE CANVASS

OVERVIEW: Canvass all 24 Maryland Voting Jurisdictions to verify Voter Registration List
Accuracy.
Canvass was derived from a universe of 112,506 registered voters across all
24 jurisdictions who voted in the 2020GE.
Sample size of 383 registered voters was determined by the proportion of
target population we needed to interview to achieve a 95% confidence level
with a +/-5 margin for error.
Universe of 112,506 registered voters was scientifically randomized using a
NIST approved algorithm to remove any bias.
383 voter registrations were selected and surveyed from the randomized list.
180 of the 383 voters successfully surveyed.
58 inaccurate registrations identified.

METHOD: During the September-November 2023 timeframe, a team of trained citizen
volunteers canvassed our scientifically randomized list of registered voters across all 24
Jurisdictions who voted in the 2020 GE. List was derived from the Official Maryland State
Registration Database using the process described above. Each volunteer was given a list of
records for their assigned jurisdiction. Volunteers primary purpose was to verify if the Official
Maryland State Voter Registration Database accurately reflected the voter registration
information listed in the record.

383 doors surveyed.

180 voters successfully contacted.
20 refused the survey.

102 records were verified.

RESULTS: 58 records were identified as inaccurate.

31 records were identified as Moved while still being listed as an active voter.
2 records were identified as Unauthorized Ballot Collection.

5 records reflected addresses determined to be Abandoned Buildings (4 out of
these 5 addresses located in Baltimore City).

20 records were determined to reflect a fraudulent vote having been cast for
the voter (Voter registration record reflected voter had voted in the 2020
General Election (GE) yet the voter confirmed they did not vote in the 2020
GE).

These 58 inaccurate records represent 15% of the 383 records canvassed
and an alarming 32% of the 180 records successfully surveyed.

% See Appendix A: Cross State Canvass Results for detailed results.




BALTIMORE COUNTY CANVASS
OVERVIEW: Canvass Baltimore County to verify Voter Registration List Accuracy.

e The target was every registered voter in our geographically selected precincts
within Baltimore County.
904 doors surveyed and 418 registered voters successfully contacted.
61 inaccurate registrations identified

METHOD: During the February-April 2023 timeframe, a team of citizen volunteers canvassed
three randomly selected precincts in Baltimore County. Each volunteer was given a list of
records from the Official Maryland State Voter Registration Database organized by the precinct.
Volunteers primary purpose was to verify if the Official Baltimore County Voter Registration
Database accurately reflected the voter registration information listed in the record.

e 904 doors surveyed.
e 418 registered voters successfully contacted.

RESULTS: Of the 418 contacted, 61 records were identified as inaccurate.

50 records were identified as Moved.

4 records were identified as Deceased.

2 records were identified as Identity Unknown (individual never lived at the
address).

5 records were identified as Inaccurate (some part of the record was incorrect).
These 61 inaccurate records represent 6% of the 904 records canvassed and
an alarming 14% of 418 records successfully surveyed.

% See Appendix B: Baltimore County Canvass Results for detailed results.




APPARENT REGISTRATION VIOLATIONS

INELIGIBLE OR
UNCERTAIN
REGISTRATION TYPE

VIOLATIONS

LAW/RULE IN VIOLATION

Illegal duplicate registrations

Maryland Annotated Code, Election Law
Article, Title 3. Voter Registration (Subtitles
1-6); § 3-101

Questionable Inactive Status

Maryland Annotated Code, Election Law
Article, Title 3. Voter Registration (Subtitles
1-6); §§ 3-502 - 3-503

Active Registrations without a
certified U.S. Post Office mailing
address

Maryland Annotated Code, Election Law
Article, Title 3. Eligibility §3-102

Active Registrants who moved at
least 4 years ago

Maryland Annotated Code, Election Law
Article, Title 3 Moved Voters §3-502

Active Registrations with no
residential address (PO Box, UPS
or FedEx)

Maryland Annotated Code, Election Law
Article, Title 3. Eligibility §3-102

Active Registrations with
Nonstandard address

Maryland Annotated Code, Election Law
Article, Title 3. Eligibility §3-102

Active Registrants who are
deceased

Maryland Annotated Code, Election Law
Article, Title Deceased Voters 3§3—504

Age discrepant registrants
(younger than 16)

Maryland Annotated Code, Election Law
Article, Title 3. Eligibility §3-102

Questionable Registration Date

Maryland Annotated Code, Election Law
Article, Title 3. Voter Registration (Subtitles
1-6); § 3-101

TOTAL REGISTRATION
VIOLATIONS




APPARENT VOTER VIOLATIONS

INELIGIBLE OR
UNCERTAIN
REGISTRATION TYPE
THAT VOTED

LAW/RULE IN VIOLATION

Illegal duplicate
registrations

Maryland Annotated Code, Election Law
Article, Title 3. Voter Registration (Subtitles 1-
6); § 3-101

Questionable Inactive
Status

Maryland Annotated Code, Election Law
Article, Title 3. Voter Registration (Subtitles 1-
6); §§ 3-502 - 3-503

Active Registrations without
a certified U.S. Post Office
mailing address

Maryland Annotated Code, Election Law
Article, Title 3. Eligibility §3-102

Active Registrants who
moved at least 4 years ago

Maryland Annotated Code, Election Law
Article, Title 3 Moved Voters §3-502

Active Registrations with no
residential address (PO Box,
UPS or Fedex)

Maryland Annotated Code, Election Law
Article, Title 3. Eligibility §3-102

Active Registrations with
Nonstandard address

Maryland Annotated Code, Election Law
Article, Title 3. Eligibility §3-102

Active Registrants who are
deceased

Maryland Annotated Code, Election Law
Article, Title Deceased Voters 3§3—504

Age Discrepant

Maryland Annotated Code, Election Law
Article, Title 3. Eligibility §3-102

Questionable Registration
Date

Maryland Annotated Code, Election Law
Article, Title 3; 3-102; §§3-301-3-306

Registered after General
Election

Maryland Annotated Code, Election Law
Article, Title 3; 3-102; §§3-301-3-306

TOTAL APPARENT
VOTING VIOLATIONS

Federal Law only allows for 24 Votes in Error for
the 2020 election and 16 Votes in Error for 2022
(based on Official Turnout of 3,066,945 and
2,031,635 in 2020 and 2022 respectively). Help
America Vote Act, 2002. 252 USC Ch. 209 § 21081
Voting Systems and Standards (5) ERROR RATES.
For each processing function indicated above, the
system shall achieve a target error rate of no more than
one in 10,000,000 ballot positions, with a maximum
acceptable error rate in the test process of one in
500,000 ballot positions. (1/125,000, 2005)

VOTES OVER THE
ALLOWABLE ERROR
RATE

Total number of apparent voting violations
minus 24 and 16 allowable errors in 2020GE and
2022GE respectively.




ADDITIONAL INACCURACIES, DESCREPENCIES AND

CONCERNS

ADDITIONAL INACCURACIES
DESCREPANCIES, and CONCERNS

Unreconciled Blank ballots cast in
General Election

Incomplete and inconsistent
definition of blank ballot with a
large number in both the 2020
and 2022 General Elections

Registered voters listed as having
voted but did not vote (data only
available for 2020 General

Election)

Extrapolated using the well-
defined survey statistical
method and results described
in the “MARYLAND CROSS
STATE CANVASS” section. The
5,625 result represents 5% of
112,506 registered voters with
a 95% confidence interval with
a +/- 5% Margin of Error

Official Results from Maryland State
Board of Elections Official Turnout
Statistics Report

3,066,945

2,031,635

Official Results by aggregating the
county EL52 reports

3,054,725

2,031,853

Different reports generated and
released by the Maryland State
Board of Elections do not agree
or reconcile

Election Administration and Voting
Survey Report sent to EAC

Number of Voters who Cast a Ballot
that was Counted

3,059,603

2,028,850




RECOMMENDATIONS

Based on identified vulnerabilities and settled Federal and Maryland State law, our team has
compiled a list of recommendations which, when executed jointly, will restore faith and
confidence in our election system and optimize the security, safety, and accuracy of our
elections. The joint teams are best if comprised of State Board of Election representatives
and Select Qualified citizens.

1. Jointly review and resolve identified registration violations in advance of the 2024
elections.

2. Create a joint List Maintenance Task force to identify and address additional
inaccuracies found in the voter registration database.

3. Create a joint Voter Security Task force to identify risks and vulnerabilities
associated with the end-to-end voting system, evaluate the likelihood and impact of
each, determine resolutions, and develop short-term mitigations to reduce the overall
risk. The task force will focus on any entry point into the system where an intentional
or unintentional action results in disenfranchising any voter by prohibiting a
legitimate voter from voting and diluting the vote of a legally cast vote.

4. Jointly support through public writings and testimony all efforts that will improve
the security of our election system and increase public faith and confidence in our
election system.
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Cross State Canvass Results

Percentage of

Percentage of Total

Surveyed Canvas

TOTALS (180) (383)
TOTAL CANVASSED
(Doors Knocked On) 383 100%
TOTAL SURVEYED
(Live Conversations) 180 100% 47%
Moved 31 17.22% 8.09%
DNV 20 11.11% 5.22%
Unauthorized Ballot Harvest 2 1.11% 0.52%
Vacant/Abandoned 5 2.78% 1.31%
Verified 102 56.67% 26.63%
Refused Survey 20 11.11% 5.22%
# of Inaccurate Records Surveyed 58
Rate of Inaccuracy - 383 total 15%
Rate of Inaccuracy - 180 total 32%

SURVEYED =LIVE CONVERSATION
CANVASSED =DOORS KNOCKED ON

A-1
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Baltimore County Canvass Results

PERCENTAGE OF| PERCENTAGE

TOTAL OF TOTAL
CATEGORY TOTAL CANVASSED SURVEYED
Canvassed 904 100.00% N/A
Surveyed 418 46.24% N/A
Moved 50 5.53% 11.96%
Deceased 4 0.44% 0.96%
Suspicious Identity 2 0.22% 0.48%
Incorrect Record 5 0.55% 1.20%

B-1
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Appendix C

FEDERAL and MARYLAND STATE LAWS and
REGULATIONS VIOLATED

U.S. Const. amend. X1V, § 1. Citizenship Clause

52 USC Ch. 205 National Voter Registration Act of 1993 (Moter Voter)
§ 20501Findings and Purposes

52 USC Ch. 209 Help America Vote Act, 2002

§ 21081 Voting Systems and Standards (5) ERROR RATES
Federal Prosecution of Election Offenses

8™ Addition, December 2017

Voting System Standards, Vol.1

Performance Standards April 2002

Federal Election Commission United States of America
3.2.1. Accuracy Requirements

52 USC Subtitle 1 Voting Rights Act of 1965

52 USC § 10101 Voting Rights

Prohibition Against Misrepresentation; 18 USC §1028 A — Aggravated Identity Theft

Md. Code, Elec. Law § 2-102 Powers and Duties State Board of Elections

Md. Code, Elec. Law (Subtitles 1-6) §3-101; §§ 3-502 - 3-503 Voter Registration

Md. Code, Elec. Law §3—-102 Eligibility

Md. Code, Elec. Law §3-502 Moved Voters

Md. Code, Elec. Law §3-504 Deceased Voters

Md. Code, Elec. Law §9-102(d)(1)(1) and (i1) Voting Systems

Md. Code, Elec. Law §11-503 Statewide Canvass and Certification
Md. Code, Elec. Law § 16-101 Voter Fraud

Md. Code Regs. 33.10.01.18 Ballots- Chain of Custody

C-1
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REGISTRATION VIOLATION CATEGORIES AND SUB-CATEGORIES

CATEGORIES VIOLATIONS LAW/RULE IN VIOLATION
Maryland Annotated Code, Election Law
Article, Title 3. Voter Registration (Subtitles 1-6);
Illegal duplicate registrations 1,699 § 3-101
Match (First name, Address, DOB) 1,288
Fuzzy Match (First name, Last name,
Address, DOB +/- 30 days) 411
Maryland Annotated Code, Election Law
Article, Title 3. Voter Registration (Subtitles
Questionable Inactive Status 25,084 1-6); §§ 3-502 - 3-503
No vote 2016, voted 2020, Inactive 12/2021 23,088
Inactive after 2022 Primary, Active Post 2022
GE, Inactive by 4/2023 686
Inactive before 2022 Primary, Active
immediately after 2022 Primary, Inactive
beginning again December 2022 1,310
Active Registrations without a certified Maryland Annotated Code, Election Law
U.S. Post Office mailing address 3,366 Article, Title 3. Eligibility §3—102
Active Registrants who moved at least 4 Maryland Annotated Code, Election Law
years ago 5,680 Article, Title 3 Moved Voters §3—-502
Active Registrations with no residential Maryland Annotated Code, Election Law
address (PO Box, UPS or FedEx) 605 Article, Title 3. Eligibility §3—102

D-1
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REGISTRATION VIOLATION CATEGORIES AND SUB-CATEGORIES

CATEGORIES VIOLATIONS LAW/RULE IN VIOLATION
Active Registrations with Nonstandard Maryland Annotated Code, Election Law
address 296 Article, Title 3. Eligibility §3-102
Maryland Annotated Code, Election Law
Active Registrants who are deceased 1,218 Article, Title Deceased Voters 3§3—504
Age discrepant registrants (younger than Maryland Annotated Code, Election Law
16) 883 Article, Title 3. Eligibility §3-102
Maryland Annotated Code, Election Law
Article, Title 3. Voter Registration (Subtitles 1-
Questionable Registration Date 40,518 6); § 3-101
January 1st registrations, all years 1900-2022 32,806
Change registrations dates BEFORE State
Registration Dates 4,732
State Registration Date Changed 2,358

Date of Birth Changed

622

D-2
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VOTING VIOLATION CATEGORIES AND SUB-CATEGORIES

CATEGORIES 2020 2022 LAW/RULE IN VIOLATION
Maryland Annotated Code, Election Law Article, Title
Illegal duplicate registrations 1,323 822|3. Voter Registration (Subtitles 1-6); § 3-101
Apparent Voting Violation (Duplicate
Match) 1,035 643
Actual Voting Violation (Duplicate Match) 15 7
Apparent Voting Violation (Fuzzy Match) 288 179
Actual Voting Violation (Fuzzy Match) 1 1
Maryland Annotated Code, Election Law Article, Title
Questionable Inactive Status 23,558 455|3. Voter Registration (Subtitles 1-6); §§ 3-502 - 3-503
No vote 2016, voted 2020, Inactive
12/2021 23,088
Inactive after 2022 Primary, Active Post
2022 GE, Inactive by 4/2023 344
Inactive before 2022 Primary, Active
immediately after 2022 Primary, Inactive
again sometime after Primary 470 111
Active Registrations w/o a Certified Maryland Annotated Code, Election Law Article, Title
U.S. Post Office Mailing Address 1374 560 (3. Eligibility §3—102
Active Registrants Who Moved at Least Maryland Annotated Code, Election Law Article, Title 3
4 Years Ago 3,704 1379|Moved Voters §3—-502
Active Registrations with NO
Residential Address (PO Box, UPS or Maryland Annotated Code, Election Law Article, Title
FedEx) 312 151]3. Eligibility §3-102
Active Registrations with Nonstandard Maryland Annotated Code, Election Law Article, Title
Address 111 61|3. Eligibility §3-102
Maryland Annotated Code, Election Law Article, Title
Active Registrants who are Deceased 4 0[Deceased Voters 3§3—-504
Maryland Annotated Code, Election Law Article, Title
Age Discrepant 471 229|3. Eligibility §3-102
Registrants younger than 16 455 217
Voters younger than 18; older than 115 15 11
Maryland Annotated Code, Election Law Article, Title
Questionable Registration Date 29,755 23,902 |3; 3-102; §§3-301-3-306
January 1st registrations, all years 1900-
2022 25,587 21,442
Change registrations dates BEFORE State
Registration Dates 2982 1567
State Registration Date Changed 842 596
Date of Birth Changed 344 297
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VOTING VIOLATION CATEGORIES AND SUB-CATEGORIES

CATEGORIES 2020 2022 LAW/RULE IN VIOLATION
Maryland Annotated Code, Election Law Article, Title
Registered after General Election 1463 64|3; 3-102; §§3—-301-3-306

Federal Law only allows for 24 Votes in Error for the
2020 election and 16 Votes in Error for 2022 (based on
Official Turnout of 3,066,945 and 2,031,635 in 2020 and
2022 respectively). Help America Vote Act, 2002. 252
USC Ch. 209 § 21081 Voting Systems and Standards (5)
ERROR RATES. For each processing function indicated
above, the system shall achieve a target error rate of no more
than one in 10,000,000 ballot positions, with a maximum
acceptable error rate in the test process of one in 500,000
ballot positions. (1/125,000, 2005)

Total number of apparent voting violations minus 24 and
16 allowable errors in 2020GE and 2022GE respectively.

E-2
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County Early Voting Election Day Vote by Mail Provisional Total
Allegany 9,336 30.20% 11,746 38.00% 9,010 29.15% 818 2.65% 30,910
Anne Arundel 112,351 35.97% 39,909 12.78% 149,216 47.77% 10,902 3.49% 312,378
Baltimore City 59,663 24.60% 29,561 12.19%| 138,217 56.98% 15,128 6.24%| 242,569
Baltimore County 133,407 31.81% 57,970 13.82% 212,963 50.77% 15,110 3.60% 419,450
Calvert 14,324 28.97% 13,427 27.15% 21,114 42.70% 583 1.18% 49,448
Caroline 7,333 46.08% 4,461 28.03% 3,656 22.97% 465 2.92% 15,915
Carroll 35,414  35.04% 27,681 27.38% 36,118 35.73% 1,868 1.85%| 101,081
Cecll 15,950 33.37% 16,511 34.54% 14,213 29.74% 1,122 2.35% 47,796
Charles 35,695 39.35% 11,152 12.29% 40,545 44.69% 3,326 3.67% 90,718
Dorchester 7,308 45.21% 3,700 22.89% 4,941 30.57% 214 1.32% 16,163
Frederick 52,957 36.12% 26,729 18.23% 63,066 43.01% 3,864 2.64% 146,616
Garrett 9,364 59.58% 2,319 14.75% 3,665 23.32% 370 2.35% 15,718
Harford 69,434 46.34% 26,853 17.92% 49,524 33.05% 4,024 2.69% 149,835
Howard 61,175 33.13% 18,400 9.96% 99,820 54.05% 5,282 2.86%| 184,677
Kent 4,504 41.30% 2,080 19.07% 3,947 36.19% 375 3.44% 10,906
Montgomery 128,684 23.92% 40,628 7.55%| 348,744] 64.83% 19,879 3.70%| 537,935
Prince George's 128,727 30.07% 37,970 8.87% 240,429 56.15% 21,028 4.91% 428,154
Queen Anne's 16,046 52.63% 4,692 15.39% 8,839 28.99% 911 2.99% 30,488
Saint Mary's 20,358 36.27% 12,738 22.70% 21,871 38.97% 1,155 2.06% 56,122
Somerset 4,802 46.75% 2,446 23.81% 2,380 23.17% 644 6.27% 10,272
Talbot 10,407 45.62% 2,888 12.66% 9,094 39.86% 424 1.86% 22,813
Washington 17,722 25.95% 26,957 39.47% 21,882 32.04% 1,741 2.55% 68,302
Wicomico 19,230 41.16% 10,612 22.71% 15,115 32.35% 1,764 3.78% 46,721
Worcester 13,182 41.23% 7,664 23.97% 9,958 31.15% 1,165 3.64% 31,969
Statewide 987,373 32.19%| 439,094 14.32%| 1,528,327 49.83%| 112,162 3.66%| 3,066,956

Turnout includes all voters who voted in the 2020 General Election, regardless of whether their mail-in or
provisional ballots were counted and included in the election results.

Source: Statewide voter registration system
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF MARYLAND

MARYLAND ELECTION INTEGRITY, *
LLC, et al.,

Plaintiffs,

No. 1:24-cv-00672-SAG

MARYLAND STATE BOARD OF

ELECTIONS,
Defendant.
% % % * % % % * % * % %
ORDER
Upon consideration of the defendant’s motion to dismiss, it is this ~ day of
,2024,

ORDERED that the plaintiffs’ complaint (ECF 1) is hereby dismissed.

STEPHANIE A. GALLAGHER, DISTRICT JUDGE





